



17th Meeting Havana, Cuba 10-12 September 1952

CE17/13 (Eng.)
9 September 1952
ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

Topic 8: REPORT OF THE FERMANENT COMMITTEE OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ON AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE DIRECTING COUNCIL

# Background

At its 15th Meeting the Executive Committee adopted Resolution II which states:

# "WHEREAS:

"The Directing Council at its V Meeting, requested (Resolution XXXVIII) the Executive Committee to submit its recommendations on the proposed amendments to the Rules of Frocedure of the Directing Council; and

"Amendments to the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council are conditional upon changes that may be introduced in the Constitution of the Pan American Sanitary Organization,

"THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE.

## "RESOLVES:

"That the Permanent Committee appointed in Resolution I of the 15th Meeting of the Executive Committee, for the revision of the Constitution of the Pan American Sanitary Organization, undertake the study of the revision of the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council and submit a report to the 16th Meeting of the Executive Committee."

## Report

Since its inception the Permanent Committee on Revision of the Constitution has concentrated its efforts exclusively on the preparation of a Draft Constitution in fulfillment of its mandate. Recognizing that amendments

to the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council are necessarily dependent upon changes that may be introduced in the Constitution of the Pan American Sanitary Organization, the Committee has decided to postpone the presentation of a set of definitive Draft Rules of Procedure until the Proposed Constitution has been finally adopted by the Organization. This approach to the subject has been indicated to the Executive Committee at its 16th Meeting in a previous report of the Permanent Committee.

However, the Permanent Committee deemed it advisable to consider modifications in the Rules of Procedure in order to bring these into accord with resolutions already adopted by the Directing Council. Consequently, it was decided, as a temporary measure, to give effect to Resolution XV, adopted at the V Meeting of the Directing Council, the operative part of which reads as follows:

- "l. That all meetings of the Directing Council shall at the same time be meetings of the Regional Committee of the World Health Organization except when the Directing Council is considering constitutional matters, the juridical relations between the Pan American Sanitary Organization and the World Health Organization or the Organization of American States, or other questions relating to the Pan American Sanitary Organization as an Inter-American Specialized Organization.
- That, modifying paragraphs (a) and (b) of Resolution II of the II Meeting of the Directing Council, the vote on Pan American Sanitary Organization budget matters is granted to States Members of the World Health Organization not having their seats of government within the Western Hemisphere, which "(a) either by reason of their Constitution consider certain territories or groups of territories in the Western Hemisphere as part of their national territory, or (b) are responsible for the conduct of the international relations of territories or groups of territories within the Western Hemisphere". The vote thus granted shall be on behalf of these territories and shall be contingent upon their making an equitable contribution to the budget of the Pan American Sanitary Organization. The privileges of voting on the Pan American Sanitary Organization budget thus granted may be exercised either by the representative of such territories or by the representatives of the Member States of the World Health Organization referred to above.

"3. To amend the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council, in accordance with the recommendation of the Executive Committee, to provide inter-alia that if the representative of a non-member State of the Pan American Sanitary Organization is elected an officer at any meeting, such representative will not officiate in the sessions at which any of the matters mentioned in paragraph 1 is under discussion."

The Permanent Committee, therefore, recommends that the following Resolution providing for draft amendments to the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council in implementation of Resolution XV be approved by the Executive Committee, pending a thorough study of the subject and the preparation of a complete set of Rules of Procedure by the Permanent Committee:

# Proposed Resolution

#### WHEREAS:

The report of the Permanent Committee of the Executive Committee on Revision of the Rules of Procedure (CE17/13) notes that amendments to said rules are necessarily dependent upon changes that may be introduced in the Constitution of the Pan American Sanitary Organization, and that said Permanent Committee has decided to postpone the presentation of a set of definitive Draft Rules of Procedures until the Proposed Constitution has been finally adopted by the Organization; and

The Permanent Committee above-referred to recommends that, as a temporary measure, Resolution XV, adopted at the V Meeting of the Directing Council, be implemented by appropriate amendments to the present Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council; and

The Executive Committee concurs in the point of view of said Permanent Committee in this regard.

## THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

#### RESOLVES:

To recommend to the Directing Council the adoption of the following amendments to the Rules of Procedure of that body, on a provisional basis:

Article 6 New - If a representative of territories is elected an officer at any meeting, said representative shall not officiate in the sessions at which any of the matters enumerated in Article 7A is under discussion.

Article 7A New - All meetings of the Directing Council shall at the same time be meetings of the Regional Committee of the World Health Organization except when the Directing Council is considering constitutional matters, the juridical relations between the Pan American Sanitary Organization and the World Health Organization or the Organization of American States, or other questions relating to the Pan American Sanitary Organization as an Inter-American Specialized Organization.

Article 10 / Amended - Decisions shall be taken by the affirmative votes of the majority of representatives of Members and, in cases where they are entitled to vote, of territories, present and voting. For the purpose of these Rules, the phrase "present and voting" means representatives of Members and territories casting an affirmative or negative vote. Representatives who abstain from voting are considered not voting.

Article 11 / Amended 7 - Representatives of territories are entitled to participate and vote on the same basis as those of Members, except that they shall not participate or vote when any of the matters enumerated in Article 7A are under discussion.

Article llA New - The privilege of voting in the plenary sessions on Pan American Sanitary Organization budget matters may be exercised by the representatives of territories but this privilege shall be contingent on an equitable contribution to the budget of the Pan American Sanitary Organization made on behalf of such territories.

Article 11B /New - Representatives of territories under the jurisdiction of the same non-American State shall vote as a single unit in the plenary sessions and in the Committees whenever they are entitled to vote. Only one vote may be cast on behalf of each such unit.

Article 28 /Amended - Representatives of territories shall be entitled to participate with the right to vote in the committees of the Directing Council, except that they shall not have the right to vote when matters enumerated in Article 7A are under discussion.

Respectfully submitted,

1	C-5	m.	~~	١
١.	C)_	gn	cu.	)

Dr. Luis F. Thomen, Chairman Representative of the Dominican Republic

(Signed)

(Signed)

Alberto Díaz Alemany Representative of Chile Howard B. Calderwood
Representative of the United
States of America

# (Distributed as Annex I of Document CE17/13)

CD6/3 (Eng.)
7 August 1952
ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE DIRECTING COUNCIL OF THE PAN AMERICAN SANITARY ORGANIZATION

The text given below is that which was provisionally approved by the Directing Council at its IV Meeting and which appears in Document CD4/5 Rev.1, Corr.1 (Ciudad Trujillo, 22 September 1950), with the exception of Article 12 which was modified pursuant to Resolutions VIII and IX of the XIII Pan American Sanitary Conference.

The topic of amendments to the Rules of Procedure of the Directing Council is included in the agendas of the 17th Meeting of the Executive Committee and the VI Meeting of the Directing Council, and is the subject of a report of the Permanent Committee on the Revision of the Constitution.

# RULES OF PROCEDURE OF THE DIRECTING COUNCIL OF THE PAN AMERICAN SANITARY ORGANIZATION

## PART I

## MEMBERSHIP

- Art. 1. The Directing Council shall be composed of representatives of Member Governments and territories and groups of territories (hereinafter called territories) as defined in Article 2 of the Constitution.
- Art. 2. The order of precedence of representatives shall be based on the alphabetical order of the countries, as expressed in the language of the country where the meeting is held.

## PART II

# OFFICERS

- Art. 3. At each meeting the Directing Council shall elect a Chairman and two Vice-Chairman who shall hold office until their successors are elected.
- Art. 4. The Chairman shall preside over the sessions of the Directing Council and execute any other functions assigned to him under these Rules of Procedure.
- Art. 5. In the absence of the Chairman, or when he so delegates, one of the Vice-Chairmen shall preside, and if all these officers should be absent, the Council shall appoint a representative to preside over the session.

## SECRETARIAT

Art. 6. The Secretary General of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau shall act as Secretary of the Directing Council and its committees. He may delegate these functions.

#### PART III

# MEETINGS AND AGENDA

- Art. 7. The meetings of the Directing Council shall be convoked by the Director of the Fan American Sanitary Bureau acting in conformity with a resolution of the Executive Committee.
- Art. 8. A majority of the representatives of Members participating in the Meeting shall constitute a quorum for the plenary sessions.
  - Art. 9. Each Member shall have one vote only.
- Art. 10. Decisions shall be taken by the affirmative votes of the majority of representation of Members present and voting. For the purpose of these Rules, the phrase "present and voting" means representation of Members casting an affirmative or negative vote. Representatives who abstain from voting are considered not voting.
- Art. 11. Representatives of territories are entitled to participate in the plenary sessions on the same basis as those of Members but without the right to vote.
- \*Art. 12. The meetings of the Directing Council shall be held only in those years in which the Conference does not meet, as follows:
  - a) In the odd years between the Pan American Sanitary Conferences, the annual meetings shall be held at the Headquarters of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau.
  - b) The Council shall determine the place for its meetings in those even years in which the Conference does not meet.
- Art. 13. The Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau shall prepare the agenda for each meeting.

<sup>\*</sup> This article has been modified pursuant to Resolutions VIII and IX of the XIII Pan American Sanitary Conference.

# Art. 14. The agenda shall include:

- a) Any subject suggested by the Directing Council at its previous meeting.
- b) Any subject proposed by the Executive Committee at its previous meeting.
- c) Any subject proposed not later than 21 days prior to the meeting by Members, Territories or Organizations entitled to propose subjects. The Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau may waive this time limitation should such a waiver be justified by special consideration.
- d) Any subject proposed by the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau.
- Art. 15. Supplementary items may be added to the agenda during any session of the Council if two thirds of the representatives present and voting approve.
- Art. 16. The agenda and all documents relating thereto shall be sent to Members, Territories, and Organizations entitled to representation, at least 30 days prior to the meeting. Copies of these documents shall be forwarded to National Health Authorities.
- Art. 17. To allow for proper discussion of the items on the agenda, the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau shall formulate a program for the sessions.
- Art. 18. The Directing Council shall adopt an agenda and approve a program at the beginning of each meeting.
- Art. 19. The plenary sessions shall be held on the dates set by the approved program; other sessions, however, may take place on dates determined by the Directing Council.
- Art. 20. The Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau shall report to the Directing Council on the technical, administrative and financial implications, if any, of all agenda items.
- Art. 21. Unless otherwise determined, the sessions of the Directing Council shall be public.

## PART IV

## COMMITTEES

- Art. 22. A Committee on Credentials consisting of three representatives of as many Members shall be appointed by the Directing Council at its opening session. This Committee shall examine the credentials of representatives of Members and Territories and report to the Directing Council thereon without delay.
- Art. 23. The Directing Council shall establish at each meeting a General Committee and such main committees as it may consider necessary for the study of appropriate items on the agenda. The Chairmen of the main committees shall be elected by the Directing Council.
- Art. 24. The General Committee shall consist of the Chairman of the Directing Council (who shall serve as the Chairman of the General Committee), the two Vice-Chairmen, the Chairmen of the Main Committees and additional representatives form two members not already represented on the General Committee. The Secretary of the Directing Council shall serve as Secretary of the General Committee, without the right to vote. The Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau shall serve in an ex officio capacity without right to vote.

## Art. 25. The General Committee shall:

- a) Decide the time and place of all plenary sessions and of all sessions of committees established at plenary sessions during the meetings.
- b) Determine the order of business at each plenary session.
- c) Propose to the Directing Council the allocation to committees of items on the agenda.
- d) Coordinate the work of all committees established at plenary sessions.
- e) Fix the date of adjournment.
- f) Otherwise facilitate the orderly dispatch of the business of the meeting.

Art. 26. Each Member shall be entitled to be represented on each main committee. Representatives may be accompanied at sessions of committees by alternates and advisers.

- Art. 27. Each main committee shall elect a Vice-Chairman and a Rapporteur, who shall submit to the plenary session for discussion the report and conclusions reached by the committee.
- Art. 28. Territories shall participate with the right to vote in the committees of the Directing Council, except that they shall not have the right to vote on matters dealing with administration, finances and the Constitution.
- Art. 29. The Directing Council or any main committee may establish working parties to consider and report upon particular subjects. Alternates and advisers may be appointed to any such working parties as may be established.
- Art. 30. The reports of all committees, before being submitted to a plenary session for final disposition shall be referred to the General Committee for coordination and editing. Such reports, including draft resolutions, shall, after being examined by the General Committee, be circulated, in as far as practicable at least 24 hours in advance of the plenary meeting at which they will be considered.

# PART V

## DEBATES

- Art. 31. Any representative may request a roll-call vote. The vote of each Member participating in any roll-call shall be inserted in the record of the meeting.
- Art. 32. All elections shall be held by secret ballot; in other cases a secret ballot may be taken if the Directing Council so decides; in both events two tellers selected from among the representatives present shall assist in the counting votes.
- Art. 33. When only one Member is to be elected and no candidate obtains in the first ballot the majority required, a second ballot shall be taken which shall be restricted to the two candidates obtaining the largest number of votes. If in the second ballot the votes are equally divided, and a majority is required, the Chairman shall decide between the candidates by drawing lots.
- Art. 34. When two or more elective places are to be filled at one time under the same conditions, those candidates obtaining in the first ballot the majority required shall be elected. If the number of candidates obtaining such majority is less than the number of persons or members to be elected, there shall be additional ballots to fill the remaining places, the voting being restricted to the candidates obtaining the greatest number of

votes in the previous ballot to a number not more than twice the places remaining to be filled; provided that, after the third inconclusive ballot, votes may be cast for any eligible Members. If three such unrestricted ballots are inconclusive, the next three ballots shall be restricted to the candidates who obtained the greatest number of votes in the third of the unrestricted ballots, to a number not more than twice the places remaining to be filled, and the following three ballots thereafter shall be unrestricted, and so on until all the places have been filled.

- Art. 35. Parts of a proposal shall be voted on separately if any representative so requests.
- Art. 36. If two or more amendments are moved to a proposal, the amendment furthest removed in substance from the original proposal shall be voted on first, then the amendment next furthest removed until all the amendments have been put to a vote.
- Art. 37. An amendment shall be voted on before the original proposal and if it is adopted the amended proposal shall then be voted on.
- Art. 38. During the discussion of any subject any representative may rise to a point of order, which shall be resolved immediately by the Chairman.
- Art. 39. A representative may at any time move the closure of the debate. His motion shall be given priority and submitted to a vote immediately after one representative has been given the opportunity to speak in favor of and another against the motion.
- Art. 40. The Chairman may at any time call for a vote to close the debate. If this motion is approved, the Chairman shall declare the debate closed.
- Art. 41. The Directing Council may limit the time allotted to each speaker.
- Art. 42. The right to speak shall be limited to representatives, to observers of Organizations entitled to representation, and to the Director of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau serving in an <u>ex officio</u> capacity. However, the Chairman may grant the right to speak to alternates and advisers of representatives and officers of the Pan American Sanitary Bureau and of the World Health Organization.

#### PART VI

# FINAL REPORT AND MINUTES

- Art. 43. The General Committee shall prepare the Final Report which shall include the resolutions taken in regard to all agenda items.
- Art. 44. The representatives, the Director and the Secretary General shall sign the Final Report.
- Art. 45. The Director shall send copies of the Final Report to each of the Members and Territories.
- Art. 46. The minutes of the sessions and the original Final Report of the Council shall be kept on file in the Bureau Headquarters and made available upon request for inspection.

#### PART VII

# OFFICIAL LANGUAGES

Art. 47. The official languages shall be English, French, Portuguese and Spanish.

## PART VIII

# AMENDMENT OF RULES OF PROCEDURE

- Art. 48. These Rules may be amended by resolution of the Directing Council on 24-hour notice or by a two-thirds majority vote at any time.
- Art. 49. All matters not provided for in these Rules may be resolved directly by the Directing Council.